
-1-

CITY OF ONTARIO 
DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 

AGENDA 

October 7, 2024

 All documents for public review are on file in the Planning Department located in
City Hall at 303 East “B” St., Ontario, CA  91764 and on the city’s website at 

ontarioca.gov/Agendas/DAB  

MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 1:30 PM IN ONTARIO CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
LOCATED AT 303 East “B” St. 

Scott Ochoa, City Manager 
Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency 
Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Executive Director, Economic Development 
James Caro, Building Official 
Henry Noh, Planning Director  
Khoi Do, City Engineer 
Chief Michael Lorenz, Police Department 
Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department 
Scott Burton, Utilities General Manager 
Angela Magana, Community Improvement Manager 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Citizens wishing to address the Development Advisory Board on any matter that is not on the agenda 
may do so at this time.  Please state your name and address clearly for the record and limit your remarks 
to three minutes. 

Please note that while the Development Advisory Board values your comments, the members cannot 
respond nor take action until such time as the matter may appear on the forthcoming agenda. 

AGENDA ITEMS 





CITY OF ONTARIO 

Development Advisory Board 

Minutes 

September 16, 2024 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

Henry Noh, Chairman, Planning Department 
James Caro, Building Department  
Raymond Lee, Engineering Department 
David Bucholtz, Community Improvement  
Charity Hernandez, Economic Development Agency 
Michelle Starkey, Fire Department  
Christy Stevens, Municipal Utilities Company  
Heather Lugo, Police Department  

BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT 

None 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Gwen Berendsen, Planning Department  
Jeanie Aguilo, Planning Department 
Henry Pham, Engineering Department 
Karen Khukoyan, Economic Development Agency 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No person from the public wished to speak. 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Motion to approve the minutes of the September 6, 2024, meeting
of the Development Advisory Board was made by Ms. Stevens; seconded by Mr. Bucholtz; and
approved unanimously by those present (8-0).

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE
NO. PDEV23-022: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a commercial
building and an ancillary storage building totaling 28,509 square feet on 4.97 acres of land, located
at the southeast corner of QVC Way and Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Urban Commercial
land use district of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan. The project is categorically
exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to
Section 15332 (Class 32, Infill Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed
project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was

Item A - 1 of 2



Item A - 2 of 2



Page 1 of 18 

FILE NO: PDEV22-041 

SUBJECT:  A public hearing to consider a revision to Development Plan File No. 
PDEV19-069 to raze an existing service station and convenience store, to construct a new 
3,920 square-foot convenience store, a 3,528 square-foot fuel canopy, and a 1,140 
square-foot detached carwash on 0.87-acre of land located at 2156 S. Grove Avenue, 
within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan; (APN: 
1050-491-08) submitted by Ramila Patel. 

PROPERTY OWNER: Trisha Petro, Inc. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: That the Development Advisory Board consider and approve 
File No. PDEV22-041, pursuant to the facts and reasons contained in the staff report and 
attached Decision, and subject to the conditions of approval appended to the attached 
Decision as “Attachment A.” 

BACKGROUND: On September 28, 2021, the City of Ontario approved a Development 
Plan (File No. PDEV19-069) to demolish an existing service station and convenience store 
in order to construct a 3,545 square-foot convenience store (AM-PM) with an attached 
1,440 square-foot automated carwash, and a 3,499 square-foot fueling canopy, in 
conjunction with a Conditional Use Permit (File No. PCUP19-030) to establish alcoholic 
beverage sales (Type 20 ABC license) for off-premises consumption. 

On September 8, 2022, the Applicant submitted Development Plan application File No. 
PDEV22-041, a revision to the approved Development Plan, File No. PDEV19-069. The 
revised Development Plan still proposes to demolish the existing convenience store and 
fueling canopy and construct a new convenience store, carwash, and fuel canopy. The 
main difference in the revision is a slight increase in size to the convenience store and 
fuel canopy, a slight decrease in size to the carwash, and the carwash is designed to be 
detached instead of attached to the convenience store. If the revised Development 
Plan is approved, the conditions of approval for Conditional Use Permit (File No. PCUP19-
030) will still apply to the project site.

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 0.87-acre of land located at the 
northwest corner of Grove Avenue and Philadelphia Street, at 2156 South Grove Avenue, 
within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is 
depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. The site is currently developed 
with a convenience store and fueling canopy, which will be demolished to facilitate the 
proposed development.  

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 / Phone: 909.395.2036 / Email: PlanningDirector@OntarioCA.gov 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
AGENDA REPORT 

October 7, 2024 

Item B - 1 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 2 of 18 

The property abutting the Project site on the north and west property lines is located 
within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is 
developed by a Caltrans storage facility. The property to the south of the Project site, 
across Philadelphia Street, is within the CC (Community Commercial) zoning district of 
the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is comprised of a multi-tenant commercial center. 
The property to the east, across Grove Avenue, is within the Business Park land use district 
of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is comprised of a multi-tenant commercial 
building. The existing surrounding land uses, zoning, general plan and specific plan land 
use designations, including the Project’s development statistics are summarized in the 
“Surrounding Zoning & Land Uses” & “General Site & Building Statistics” tables located in 
the Technical Appendix of this report. 
 
PROJECT ANALYSIS: 
 

(a) Site Design/Building Layout — The proposed development consists of a 
3,920-square-foot convenience store (AM-PM), 1,140-square-foot detached carwash, 
and a 3,528-square-foot fueling canopy with 12-fuel disperser stations. The convenience 
store is located 18.5-feet away from the west property line (rear of the building). The 
detached carwash is proposed approximately 13-feet away from the north property line. 
The fueling canopy is located approximately 36-feet away from the Grove Avenue 
property line (east property line) and approximately 54-feet from the Philadelphia Street 
property line (south property line). The detached carwash will be accessed by way of a 
12-foot-wide drive-thru lane that runs along the south side of the site, and then loops 
along the west side of the convenience store (rear side). Parking has been distributed 
along the front of the convenience store (east side of building) for customer 
convenience. Additional parking can be found on the northeast corner of the site where 
the air and water station will be located (see Exhibit B: Site Plan, attached). 
 

(b) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site is currently accessed by two 
driveways along the Philadelphia Street frontage and two driveways along the Grove 
Avenue frontage. The development plan is proposing to only provide one 35-foot-wide 
driveway along Grove Avenue and one 35-foot-wide driveway along Philadelphia Street. 
Access will be restricted to right-in and right-out on both driveways. Pedestrian access to 
the convenience store will be provided by a 5-foot-wide sidewalk/path from the 
Philadelphia Street public sidewalk to the front of the store. 

 
(c) Parking — The Project is located within the Grove Avenue Specific Plan, 

which reverts to the City’s Development Code for off-street parking requirements. The 
Project is required to provide a total of 29 off-street parking spaces and 29 parking spaces 
have been provided. The off-street parking calculations for the Project are summarized 
in Table 2 Parking Summary within the Technical Appendix. 

 
(d) Architecture — The proposed convenience store, fueling canopy, and 

detached carwash incorporate a fine sand stucco finish, stone veneer, prefabricated 
steel canopy elements covered with Alucobond aluminum composite panels, and 
storefront glazing (see Exhibits D through G: Exterior Elevations). Staff believes that the 

Item B - 2 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 3 of 18 

proposed project illustrates the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the Grove 
Avenue Specific Plan and the Ontario Plan (TOP). This is exemplified through the use of: 
(i) articulation in the building footprint, incorporating recessed wall areas; (ii) articulation 
in the building parapet/roof line, which serves to accentuate the building’s entries and 
breaks up large expanses of building walls; (iii) a mix of exterior materials, finishes and 
fixtures; (iv) incorporation of a base and top treatment defined by changes in color, 
materials, and recessed wall areas; and (v) the buildings were designed to ensure that its 
massing and proportions, along with its colors and architectural detailing, are consistent 
throughout all building elevations (see Figure 1: South View Perspective, below). 
 

Figure 1: South View Perspective 
 

 
 

(e) Landscaping — The project has provided roughly 24 percent of landscape 
coverage across the site, which exceeds the minimum coverage of 15 percent required 
by the Grove Avenue Specific Plan (see Figure 2: Landscaping Perspective, below). The 
project provides an average landscape setback of 15-feet wide along the Grove Ave 
frontage, a 19-foot-wide landscape setback along the Philadelphia Street frontage, a 5-
foot-wide landscape setback along the west property line, and an average of 12-feet 
wide along the north property. The Project will also provide landscaping along the interior 
parking lot area. The landscape plan incorporates a combination of 48-inch, 36-inch, 
and 24-inch box trees. In addition, the two entry driveways and the front outdoor plaza 
area of the convenience store have been designed with decorative paving to enhance 
these areas. The proposed on-site and off-site landscape improvements will assist towards 
creating a walkable and safe area for pedestrians (see Exhibit H—Landscape Plan, 
attached). 
 
 
 
 

Item B - 3 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 4 of 18 

Figure 2: Landscaping Perspective 
 

 
 

(f) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available 
to serve the Project. The Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best management practices (“BMPs”), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of a combination of on-site surface retention and infiltration trenches within 
landscaped areas and subsurface retention chambers. Any overflow drainage will be 
conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 
 

(g) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations 
provided in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Pursuant to Development Code 
requirements.  
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: The subject application was advertised as a hearing in at least one 
newspaper of general circulation in the City of Ontario (the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
newspaper). 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Agenda Report, Planning Department 
staff has not received any written or verbal communications from the owners or 
occupants of properties surrounding the Project site or from the public in general, 
regarding the subject application.  
 

Item B - 4 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 5 of 18 

AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are appended 
to the attached Decision as “Attachment A.” 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the approving body for the Project, the Development Advisory Board 
has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the Application 
and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility factors, including 
[1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-2), [2] 
Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-3), [3] 
Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight Notification Zones 
(ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, therefore, finds and 
determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of 
approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Focus Resources on Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 

 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

Item B - 5 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 6 of 18 

(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 
 
 LU-1.3 Adequate Capacity. We require adequate infrastructure and 

services for all development. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

Item B - 6 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 7 of 18 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 

 
Community Design Element: 

 
 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 

and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the city being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

Item B - 7 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 8 of 18 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-
Fill Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines and meets each of the following 
conditions: (1) the Project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and 
all applicable general plan policies, as well as the applicable zoning designation and 
regulations, as conditioned; (2) the proposed development occurs within city limits, on a 
project site of no more than five acres, and is substantially surrounded by urban uses; (3) 
the Project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species; (4) 
approval of the Project will not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air 
quality, or water quality; and (5) the Project site is located on a site that can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

  

Item B - 8 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 9 of 18 

TECHNICAL APPENDIX 
 
Table 1: Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses 

 Existing 
Land Use 

Policy Plan 
Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use 

Site: 

Service Station, 
Fuel Sales and 
Convenience 

Store 

Business Park SP (Grove Avenue Specific 
Plan) 

Office/Commercial 
 

North: 
Caltrans Material 
and Equipment 

Storage Yard 
Business Park SP (Grove Avenue Specific 

Plan) Office/Commercial  

South: 

Multi-tenant 
Retail 

Commercial and 
Fast-Food 
Restaurant 

General Commercial CC (Community 
Commercial) N/A 

East: Fast-Food 
Restaurant Business Park SP (Grove Avenue Specific 

Plan) Business Park  

West: 
Caltrans Material 
and Equipment 

Storage 
Business Park SP (Grove Avenue Specific 

Plan) 
Office/Commercial 

 

 
Table 2: Parking Summary 

** The “Spaces Provided” calculation includes a 12-parking space credit for fuel dispenser spaces and 
a 6-parking space credit for the carwash queuing lane. 

 
Table 3: General Site & Building Statistics 

Item Required Min./Max. Proposed Meets 
Y/N 

Project Area: N/A 0.87-acre Y 

Building Area: N/A 8,588 square feet Y 

Floor Area Ratio: 0.35 Max. 0.23 Y 

Building Height: 35 feet Max. 26 feet Y 

Type of Use Building Area 
(in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required 
Spaces 

Provided 

Convenience Store 3,920 4 spaces per 1,000 SF (0.004/SF). 16 

29** Fueling Station 3,528 

3 spaces minimum; plus, parking requirements 
for combination uses. Fueling stations operating 
in conjunction with other uses may be granted 
shared parking credit at the rate of one space 
for each fuel dispenser. 

3 

Carwash (unmanned) 1,440 One space per employee, minimum 10 spaces. 10 

TOTAL 8,588  29 29** 

Item B - 9 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 10 of 18 

 
Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 
 
 

 

Item B - 10 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 11 of 18 

 
Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Item B - 11 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 12 of 18 

Exhibit C: CONVENIENCE STORE FLOOR PLAN 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 12 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 13 of 18 

 
Exhibit D: CONVENIENCE STORE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS 

 
 

 
 

Item B - 13 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 14 of 18 

Exhibit E: CONVENIENCE STORE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS  
 
 

  

Item B - 14 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 15 of 18 

 
Exhibit F: FUEL PUMPS ELEVATIONS  

 

  

Item B - 15 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 16 of 18 

 
Exhibit G: CARWASH ELEVATIONS 

 

  

Item B - 16 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 17 of 18 

 
Exhibit H: LANDSCAPE PLAN 

 

 
 

 
  

Item B - 17 of 60



Development Advisory Board Agenda Report 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 18 of 18 

 
Exhibit I: SITE PHOTOS 

 
 

 
Existing view from the south property line 

 
 

 

 
Existing view from east property line 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item B - 18 of 60



Page 1 of 7 
 

DECISION NO.:  
 
 
FILE NO.: PDEV22-041 
 
DAB Hearing Date: October 7, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: A public hearing to consider a revision to Development Plan File No. 

PDEV19-069 to raze an existing service station and convenience 
store, to construct a new 3,920 square-foot convenience store, a 
3,528 square-foot fuel canopy, and a 1,140 square-foot detached 
carwash on 0.87-acre of land located at 2156 S. Grove Avenue, 
within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove Avenue 
Specific Plan; (APN: 1050-491-08) submitted by Ramila Patel. 

 
 

PART 1: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, Ramila Patel (hereinafter referred to "Applicant") has filed an 
application requesting approval of a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-041), as 
described in the Subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Application applies to 0.87-acre of land located at the northwest 
corner of Grove Avenue and Philadelphia Street, at 2156 South Grove Avenue. The site is 
currently improved with a service station convenience store and a freestanding canopy 
covering fuel dispensers. The existing improvements are to be demolished to facilitate the 
proposed Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the property abutting the Project site on the north and west property 
lines is located within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove Avenue 
Specific Plan and is occupied by a Caltrans storage facility. The property to the south of 
the Project site, across Philadelphia Street, is within the CC (Community Commercial) 
zoning district of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is comprised of a multi-tenant 
commercial center. The property to the east, across Grove Avenue, is within the Business 
Park land use district of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and is comprised of a multi-
tenant commercial building; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 28, 2021, the City of Ontario approved a Development 
Plan (File No. PDEV19-069) to demolish an existing service station convenience store with 
a fueling canopy in order to construct  a 3,545 square-foot convenience store (AM-PM) 
with an attached 1,440 square-foot automated carwash, and a 3,499 square-foot fueling 
canopy, in conjunction with a Conditional Use Permit (File No. PCUP19-030) to establish 
alcoholic beverage sales for off-premises consumption; and  

 
WHEREAS, on September 8, 2022, the Applicant submitted Development Plan 

application File No. PDEV22-041 to revise the previously approved Development Plan File 
No. PDEV19-069; and   

Item B - 19 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 2 of 7 

WHEREAS, the proposed development consists of a 3,920-square-foot 
convenience store (AM-PM), a detached 1,140-square-foot detached carwash, and a 
3,528-square-foot fueling canopy with a total of 12-fuel disperser stations; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the previously approved Conditional Use Permit (File No. PCUP19-030) 
associated with the previously approved Development Plan (File No. PDEV19-069) will 
remain applicable to the proposed project under File No. PDEV22-041 upon DAB 
approval; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000, et seq.) (hereinafter referred to as 
"CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-Fill 
Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and approve subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

Item B - 20 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 3 of 7 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 

PART 2: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the decision-making 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the administrative record for the Project, including all written and oral evidence 
provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts and information contained 
in the administrative record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, 
the DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-Fill 
Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines and meets each of the following 
conditions: (a) the Project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and 
all applicable general plan policies, as well as the applicable zoning designation and 
regulations, as conditioned; (b) the proposed development occurs within city limits, on a 
project site of no more than five acres, and is substantially surrounded by urban uses; (c) 
the Project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species; (d) 
approval of the Project will not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air 
quality, or water quality; and (e) the Project site is located on a site that can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services; and 
 
(2) The application of the exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth 
in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 
(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the 
DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the decision-making body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 3: Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP) Compliance. The 
California State Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that 

Item B - 21 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 4 of 7 

an Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; 
and requires that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be 
consistent with the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 

(1) On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and 
adopted the ONT ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International 
Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los 
Angeles Counties, and limits future land uses and development within the Airport 
Influence Area, as they relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity. As the decision-making body for the Project, 
the Development Advisory Board has reviewed and considered the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation against the 
ONT ALUCP compatibility factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and 
Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise 
Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-
4), and [4] Overflight Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the 
Development Advisory Board, therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when 
implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the 
policies and criteria set forth within the ONT ALUCP. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 

 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the 

goals, policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within 
the Business Park land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the 
Office/Commercial land use designation of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan. The 
development standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be 
constructed and maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of 
the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The 
Ontario Plan, as the Project will contribute to the establishment of a dynamic, progressive 
city containing distinct districts that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging 
among residents, visitors, and businesses (Goal CD1). Furthermore, the project 
incorporates appropriate building orientation, attractive architecture, landscaping and 
site design that complements existing developments, respects the intent and identity of 
the Place Type, provides appropriate transitions and connections between adjacent 
uses to ensure compatibility of scale, and minimizes potential conflicts; and 

 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in 

relation to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical 
constraint identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is 
located. The Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of 

Item B - 22 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 5 of 7 

Ontario Development Code and the Office/Commercial land use designation of the 
Grove Avenue Specific Plan, including standards relative to the particular land use 
proposed (service station convenience store, fuel sales with a total of 12-fueling stations, 
and automated carwash), as well as building intensity, building and parking setbacks, 
building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site 
landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 

(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the 
quality of existing development in the vicinity of the project and the minimum safeguards 
necessary to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required 
of the proposed project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain 
safeguards, and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to 
ensure that: [i] the purposes of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan are maintained; [ii] the 
Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will 
not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with 
the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, 
City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan, and the Grove 
Avenue Specific Plan; and 
 

(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards 
and design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Office/Commercial land use 
designation of the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and Development Code that are 
applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 
dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as well as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to 
the particular land use being proposed (service station convenience store, fuel sales with 
a total of 12-fueling stations, and automated carwash). As a result of this review, the 
Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in 
conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards and guidelines described in the Grove Avenue Specific Plan and the Ontario 
Development Code. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby APPROVES the 
Application subject to each and every condition set forth in the Conditions of Approval 
included as Attachment A of this Decision and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 

Item B - 23 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 6 of 7 

 
SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 

the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of October 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
  

Item B - 24 of 60



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-041 
October 7, 2024 
 

Page 7 of 7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A:  
 

Departmental Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item B - 25 of 60



 

Page 1 of 5 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 10/7/2024 
 
File No: PDEV22-041 
 
Related Files: PDEV19-069 & PCUP19-030 
 
Project Description: A revision to Development Plan File No. PDEV19-069 to raze an existing 
service station and convenience store, to construct a new 3,920 square-foot convenience store, 
a 3,528 square-foot fuel canopy, and a 1,140 square-foot detached carwash on 0.87-acre of land 
located at 2156 S. Grove Avenue, within the Office/Commercial land use district of the Grove 
Avenue Specific Plan; (APN: 1050-491-08) submitted by Ramila Patel.  
 
Prepared By: Dora Harville, Administrative Intern 

Phone: 909.395.2426 (direct) 
Email: dharville@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years 
following the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and 
construction is commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has 
been approved by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time 
limits specified herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, 
for the performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 
 

Item B - 26 of 60



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-041 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for the project, which shall be maintained on site during 
project construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department, 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 

Item B - 27 of 60



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-041 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). The final design and placement of 
bicycle parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lit from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.7 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated to be consistent with the building 
architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened using landscaping and/or decorative low garden 
walls. 
 

2.8 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.9 Signs. All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.10 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.11 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

Item B - 28 of 60



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-041 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.12 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.13 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of Exemption 
(“NOE”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be paid by check, 
made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded to the San 
Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable environmental 
forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). 
The filing of a NOE is voluntary; however, failure to provide said fee within the time specified will 
result in the extension of the statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 
180 days. 
 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 

 
2.14 Public Art. The Project is subject to the requirements of the City’s Public Art 

Ordinance (Ontario Municipal Code Section 5-33.05. Private Art for Public Enjoyment in 
Commercial and Industrial Development Projects). 
 

2.15 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 
each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

2.16 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) All conditions of approval for File No. PCUP19-030 shall apply to this Project 
File No. PDEV22-041. 

 
(b) Entry driveways and outdoor plaza area to convenience store shall 

feature/provide decorative paving.  
 

(c) During the plan check process color cut-sheets of all proposed exterior 
lighting fixtures shall be submitted for review and approval to planning. 

Item B - 29 of 60



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-041 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 
(d) The design of all proposed parking lot light standards shall be decorative, 

and the style shall complement the buildings design. 
 

(e) Trash enclosure gates shall remain closed at all times. 
 

(f) Any roof equipment on buildings shall not be visible from public views. They 
shall be located below parapet walls or architectural tower to be screened from public views. 

 
(g) All proposed safety bollards shall be decorative bollards, and the design 

and colors shall blend well with the landscape areas or architecture style of the buildings. 
Applicant shall work with staff during the plan check process to finalize their appearance. Color 
cut-sheets shall be submitted for review and final approval. 
 

(h) Fuel canopy shall not have any light fixtures that are exposed or that project 
out; they shall all be inset a minimum of 6- inches from the bottom edge-line of the canopy. All 
lighting on canopy shall be internal and all lighting shall be directed down. 
 

(i) Prior to project occupancy an 11” x 17” size set of Final approved plans shall 
be submitted to the Project Planner. In addition, a digital copy on a USB of the approved Final set 
of plans (complete set), shall be submitted to the Project Planner. 
 
 
 
 

Item B - 30 of 60



Item B - 31 of 60



Item B - 32 of 60



Item B - 33 of 60



Item B - 34 of 60



Item B - 35 of 60



Item B - 36 of 60



Item B - 37 of 60



Item B - 38 of 60



Item B - 39 of 60



Item B - 40 of 60



Item B - 41 of 60



Item B - 42 of 60



Item B - 43 of 60



Item B - 44 of 60



Item B - 45 of 60



Item B - 46 of 60



Item B - 47 of 60



Item B - 48 of 60



Item B - 49 of 60



Item B - 50 of 60



Item B - 51 of 60



Item B - 52 of 60



Item B - 53 of 60



Item B - 54 of 60



Item B - 55 of 60



Item B - 56 of 60



Item B - 57 of 60



Item B - 58 of 60



Item B - 59 of 60



Item B - 60 of 60


	20241007 DAB Agenda
	AGENDA
	October 7, 2024
	Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency
	Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Executive Director, Economic Development
	Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department


	20241007 Item A DAB Minutes
	BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
	BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT
	STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

	20241007 Item B PDEV22-041
	20241007 File No. _PDEV22-041^01 AR
	20241007 File No. _PDEV22-041^02 DECISION
	20241007 File No. _PDEV22-041^03 PLANNING COA
	20241007 File No. _PDEV22-041^04 OTHER DEPT. COA rev




